S | .

types and otherwise require[d] at least extremely strong evidence of (1) or
evidence of (2) in conjunction with either (1) or (3)." (People v. Anderson, supra,
70 Cal.2d 15, 27.)

"The goal of Anderson was to aid reviewing courts in assessing whether 1ihe ,
evidence is supportive of an inference that the killing whsSfH ¥ lled
preexisting reflection and weighing of considerations raff g
unconsidered or rash impulse, (People v. Anderson, supra, 70 E#g 8 e1f g ; jr OWn
(People v. Perez (1992) 2 Cal.4th 1117, 1125.) "Unreflective reliance on gn%‘erson

for a definition of premeditation is inappropriate. The Anderson analysis was
intended as a framework to assist reviewing courts in assessing whether the
evidence supports an inference that the killing resulted from preexisting
reflection and weighing of considerations. It did not refashion the elements of

first degree murder or alter the substantive law of murder in any way. (People

v. Daniels (1991) 52 Cal.3d 815, 869-870 . . . .)" (People v. Thomas (1992) 2
Cal.4th 489, 517.) "The Anderson factors, while helpful for purposes of review,

are not a sine qua non to finding first degree premeditated murder, nor are they
exclusive." (People v. Perez, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 1125.)

This case is a textbook exatnple of what happens in a proseciition where the victim
suffered gteatly; because either the killer did not know how to kill, or the killer had a motive
to make the victim suffer. Itis interesting that Toni’s diaries point to a substantial motive to
kill both Michaela and Kody'.' If Toni was jeaiou_s.of Michaela, she was certainly also jealous
of Kody, who was.not snfﬁciently reassuring her of his love and affection. The ultimate result
* of her motivations would have been a total success: Michaela is dead, and Kody is in prison
for the balance of his life while she gets out nfter' a time. |

The defense in this nnse should havte explored Toni’s hatred, rnotive, and plan to
destroy both Michaela and Kody using the arguinents clearly arising from a thorough
understanding of the murder that they were presented with: the jealous murder of a female
rival. This theory of the case is the only one that fits all the facts presented by the
investigation that was, in fact, performed. Unfortunately, this deferise was never presented

either to Kody orto a jury. -
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The Nevada Revised Statutes provide that first-degree murder is: “willful, deliberate
and premeditated killing.” As in the California codes, the repetition of the words “willful,
deliberate and premeditated” must have some meaning, or the words are mere surplus
verbage when only one of the three words is actually required. “Willful” acts clearly connote
acts that are voluntary rather than those acts called accidental or unintentional. “Deliberate”
clearly connotes intention, along with the idea that some thought process precedes the act.
“Premeditated” has broadened the concept of deliberation in Nevada to include a rapid string
of thoughts that need n'pt precede by much time the violent act that ends the life of a human
being. Arguably, the result of the Nevada analysis has been to blur the analysis for jurors,
rather than to sharpen the instruction in a juror’s mind. The Anderson factors noted above
guide a reviewing court to eﬁgage in a consideration of whether or not the killer engaged in
“reflection” and the “weighihg of considerations before the violént, killing act.”

California courts have struggled with the Andersori fabtors; courts have found them
helpful in some case révievv;rs, and departed from the factors fn other case reviews. The fact
that cannot be denied is that, while the factors may not be good jury instrﬁctions, the factors
do provide review gnidance for prééﬁﬁoners arid judges who must sort through the various
factual permutations that occur in murder cases when trying to narrow down the classes of
murders between the “worst” and the “worst of the worst” who deserve death or life without

parole.

II. THE PLEA IN THIS CASE WAS ENTERED WITHOUT KODY’S FULL KNOWLEDGE OF THE MEANING OF
FIRST DEGREE MURDER AS ANNOUNCED BY THE NEVADA SUPREME COURT

A. Kody made a proffer of evidence in exchange for a plea deal without ﬁzll knowledge of the
consequences of withdrawal from the plea bargain.

The problem here began in January 2012. Kump and Kody meet with Elko District

Attorney Mark Torvinen as part of a proffer agreement. The proffer was recorded.
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Toni Fratto later described herself as the principal actor in the killing in her talks with
Linda Fields.

During the interview, at some point prior to 3:05, John Ohlson arrived. John paused
the interview and took Kody out, with Jeff Kump, co-counsel, where they counseled Kody.
Upon return to the meeting, John Ohlson put on the record his advice to Kody of the
potential consequeuces‘of a trial - whereupon Kody withdrew from the agreement and
negotiations ceased! Kody decided, inexplicably, that he could not put the blame on his
girlfriend, Toni Fratto.

Allowing Kody to make a proffer of evidence without knowing whether or not Kody
was comfnitted to the plea agreement was a mistake. Kody should have been thoroughly
counseled of the consequences of a proffer. One risk from a-proffer is the DA will withdraw
from the deal after hearing the proffer. But that is not what happened here. Kody withdrew
from the agreement. ‘ . o

The damage this 'proffer and subsequent withdrawal was manifest: The government
learned information it could not otherwise have obtained. The information would be used to
double check their physical evidence and make arguments to counter Kody's expected
testimony if he takes the stand at his own trial. It gives the government the opportunity to
claim Kody had another story - potentially a fourth vers.ion of events - and destroy Kody’s
credibility before a jury. This proffer foreclosed Kody taking the stand. Therefore ata trial,
Toni Fratto’s testimony becomes unrebutted by an alternate account of the facts.

It is significant that Kody withdrew from the negotiations because he could not
implicate his girlfriend. Kody clearly did not understand the consequences of failing to

proceed with this deal. Kody’s proffer informed the prosecution of what defenses he would
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present at trial, which was a clear disadvantage to Kody’s defense, with no benefit in return
once the deal was withdrawn.

From March 7th, this case was based on the confession of Kody Patten. There were no
living witnesses to the incident and the investigation ~st0pped when Kody confessed.

I11. FAILURE TO INVESTIGATE AND REPLICATE THE INJURIES ON THE. VICTIM RESULTED IN A DECISION
TO PLEAD GUILTY ON INSUFFICIENT FACTS.

Failure to replicate the alleged criminal acts to determine whether the physical injuries
were consistent with blows from a 6’6" tall young man who was in excellent physipal
condition, or blows from a 5’ tall female who lacked the physical strength to deliver a killing
blow with the equipment used to commit the murder prevented a reasoned conclusion of who
oommittéd each act resulting in Michaela’s death.

A competent cﬁme scene investigator would have been able to recreate the
circumstances of the crirﬁinal act with the tools that were knpr to have been used in the
killing. This sequencing and recreation of the crime Was never performed. If performed,
such an investigation would have pointed to the obvious facts tha’; Kody could have killed
Mic;haela, without help, with a single blow from the entrenching tool used to dig the grave.
Every soldier, including Marines, is trained to use an ehtrénchjng tool as a‘weapon in hand to
hand combat. The confessions offered by both Kody and Toni point to 'ai'slov;r death with
multiple injuries incapable of causing death. This account does not mesh with Kody’s
i)hysica] skills. He was 6'6” tall, a strong young man, if Kody was the killer, his inability to
quickly kill Michaela with an éntrenching tool, does not mesh with a first degree murder
~ theory. Ifthey deliberated and planned to kill her, and brought along an entrenching tool to
perform the task, Michaela shoold have been illed almost instantly at the hands of Kody

Patten.
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It was vital to explore the mechaniém of the murder to prepare for trial.
Unfortunately, no proper crime scene invéstigation was eveﬁr completed. No explanation
was ever offered as to why Michaela suffered so many nonfatal i mjunes For example, Why
was she stripped? Repeated blows from the entrenchmg tool would have surely and swiftly
ended her life. A blow from the edge would have decapitated her. Instead, the accounts from
both Kody and Toni indicate she lingered for a long time until she finally suffered and died. -

A. Failure to properly prepare a psychological evaluation to determine Kody’s

rationale in continuing to accept full blame for the Murder when Toni was a significant
participant, or prime mover, in the crime.

The record discloses no psychologicﬁl workup of Kody to explain why Kody would have
failed to explain that Toni Fratto participated in the murder after his confession and arrest.
"Toni’s secret was held back by Kdﬂy all the way through plea and sentencing when he took
the blame for first degree murder. ‘

Kody continued to lie to police about Tony Fratto's participation in the murder for
months while he sat in jail during pretrial preparations.

The fact of Toni’s dislike for Michaela became clear when her diaries disclosed her
' intense dislike and jealousy of Kody’s ex;girlfl‘iend, Michaela. When her dislike is considered
together with the physical dircumstances_ of Michaela’s body, the motive and ﬁwkwyg}'d .
criminal agency suddenly begin to make sense. R ¢

The crime scene and position of Michaela’s body raise multiple questions: Why was
- she naked from the waist up exposing her bredsts, while the rest of her body remained
clothed? Why did she have acut across her chin? Why was there no injury evidence
supporting wrist restraints? Why did it take so many blows to kill her, when a military
entrenching tool was used in the killing, and that tool could have easily killed Michaela with a

single blow from ari adult male? Rather than conduct a thorough investigation to answer

17

AA406



« 5

these questions, the defense team struggled with multiple accounts of how the murder
oceurred.

This could be explained, in part, because for the first thirty days, everyone believed
Kody killed Michaela. However, once Toni Frattos’ involvement became clear, a complete
understanding of the mechanics of the criminal acts could have revealed what happened
during the murder and who performed the killing acts.

A thorough workup of Kody’s personality and intelligence may have revealed why he

continued to take the blame, even in the face of life imprisonment or the death penalty.

B. Kody’s plea and Nevada law virtually removed any balancing by the sentencing
court in assessing the propriety of the sentencing options.

There is no question that either KO(iy or Toni delivered violent blows to Michaela. The
body was hidden and they were both untruthful when.'Law Enforcement Officer’s (LEQ’s)
questioned them about the crime. As a former boyfriend and schoolmate of Michaela, Kody
quickly bubbled to the top of the suspect list when Michaela failed 'to come home on the day
of the incident. '

Once Kody confessed to IEbs, the investigation stopped, understandably. LEO’s had
their killer and there was no need to explore further. Kody “did the right thing”, as he had
been told by his father and the LEQs in the room with him, and took responsibility for his
actions.

By the time Toni confessed to her participation, the theory of mechanical causation
was thoroughly in everyone’s mind. Kody’s initial confession and the mystery behind Toni’s.
late confession firmly implanted in everyone’s mind that Kody was the perpetrator in this

crime and Toni was just along for the ride.
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The defense had a duty to discover what really happened and to dispel any false
impression the events left in the mind of law enforcement and the courts. Because this was
not done, the court’s role was sidetracked, and the plea agreement reached reinforced the
initial faulty conclusion about how this murder took place.

The role of the Court in sentencing was to ensure proportionality, to the extent
possible, to the perpetrator of this crime. The contrast between the sentencing of the two is
dramatic: Kody was the cold-blooded killer who would never see the outside of a prison. Toni
was a killer but her penalty was not, in any sense of he word, similar to Kody Patten’s penalty.
Toni will get out.

There is an inherent difference between Second Degree murder and First Degree
murder: 27 degree requires an intent to kill and malice express or implied, but
premeditation and deliberation are missing. 1 degree requires those elements because those
elements justify the ultimate penalty: the government will kill those persons who performed
premeditation and deliberation prior to the murder. The resulting penalties are also very
different: one has a sentence of years, the other encompasses both life and death.

Where Nevada has arguably gone astray is by blurring the meaning of the words
premeditation and deliberation. The assertion that premeditation can occur as quickly as
“successive thoughts of the mind” is incompatible with the definition of premeditation and
deliberation. Merriam Webster defines premeditation as:

an act or instance of premeditating; specifically : consideration or
planning of an act beforehand that shows intent to commit that act

The Nevada Supreme Court defines willfulness as "the intent to
kill," deliberation as "the process of determining upon a course of action to kill
as a result of thought,” and premeditation as "having the determination to kill,
distinetly formed in the mind by the time of the killing." Byford, 116 Nev. at
236-37, 994 P.2d at 714. Premeditation “may be as instantaneous as successive

19

AA408



® ®

thoughts of the mind. For if the jury believes from the evidence that the act
constituting the Kkilling has been preceded by and has been the result
of premeditation, no matter how rapidly the act follows the premeditation, it is
premeditated.” Id. at 237, 994 P.2d at 714. Circumstantial evidence can
establish premeditation and deliberation. Leonard v. State. 117 Nev. 53, 75, 17
P.3d 397, 411 (2001).
Dumas v, State (Nev.'App., 2018)

To clarify first-degree murder law and to set forth the distinct meanings of willful,
deliberate and premeditated, the Nevada Supreme Court in Byford instructed the district

courts as follows:

Accordingly, we set forth the following instructions for use by the district
courts in cases where defendants are charged with first-degree murder based
on willful, deliberate, and premeditated killing.

Murder of the first degree is murder which is perpetrated by means of any kind
of willful, deliberate, and premeditated killing. All three elements—
willfulness, deliberation, and premeditation—must be proven beyond a
reasonable doubt before an accused can be convicted of first-degree murder.

Willfulness is the intent to kill. There need be no appreciable space of time
between formation of the intent to kill and the act of killing.

Deliberation is the process of determining upon a course of action to kill as a
result of thought, including weighing the reasons for and against the action
and considering the consequences of the action.

A deliberate determination may be arrived at in a short period of time. But in
all cases the determination must not be formed in passion, or if formed in
passion, it must be carried out after there has been time for the passion to
subside and deliberation to occur. A mere unconsidered and rash impulse is
not deliberate, even though it includes the intent to kill.4

Premeditation is a design, a determination to kill, distinctly formed in the
mind by the time of the killing.

Premeditation need not be for a day, an hour, or even a minute. It may be as
instantaneous as successive thoughts of the mind. For if the jury believes from
the evidence that the act constituting the killing has been preceded by and has
been the result of premeditation, no matter how rapidly the act follows
the premeditation, it is premeditated.

The law does not undertake to measure in units of time the length of the period
during which the thought must be pondered before it can ripen into an intent
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to kill which is truly deliberate and premeditated. The time will vary with
different individuals and under varying circumstances.

The true test is not the duration of time, but rather the extent of the reflection.
A cold, calculated judgment and decision may be arrived at in a short
period of time, but a mere unconsidered and rash impulse, even though it
includes an intent to kill, is not deliberation and premeditation as will fix an
unlawful killing as murder of the first degree.

Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000).

In this case, two minors were accused of participating in exactly the same murder.
Toni’s dislike of Michaela and jealousy of Michaela and Kody’s potential relationship with
Michaela support either murder in the Second Degree or First Degree. But Kody had only
one rationale for being involved in his confession and plea: a desire to support and protect his
current girl friend and future wife. Kody had no intense emotional motivation for murder.
Kody was not jealous of Toni and Michaela’s relationship. |

The statement by Kody’s defense counsel at sentencing that he could not give the
Court a reason for this murder tee’d Kody up for life without parole, especially in the light of
the Byford instructions. The sentencing judge told Kody he was a cold-blooded murderer,
and this statement by the court virtually insured a sentence of life without parole. The Court
knew the elements of premeditated murder. The Information and Plea meant to the Court
that Kody committed a planned, deliberate murder as set forth in Byford. Byford teaches the
murder had to be cold, calculated judgment by Kody to qualify for first-degree murder. By
failing to provide the Court with the obvious reasons for the premeditated murder of a 16~
year-old girl, and failing to demonstrate to the Court Kody's dilemma under the
circumstances, the Court had no choice but to conclude this premeditated murder was

absolutely cold blooded in the most severe way. However, the only person who had a reason
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to murder was Toni! Because of the elements of the plea, Kody admitted to a cold-blooded
killing, but the calculation that was behind the murder was relevant to the sentence.

| Counsel for Kody was ineffective in failing to present to the Court the dilemma that
Kody faced at the crime scene. Did he support his girlfriend in her act of murder? Did he
help her commit the murder? Did he allow her to command him to commit the murder? Dici
lshe convince him that murder was the only way for Kody to prove that he loved her? None of |
these scenarios was explored by a qualified psychologist or presented to the Court as factors
to consider the lesser ﬁenalty. In the light of the legally compelled conclusion that a 1st
degree murderer was a cold, calculating killer, no facts and no argument would make ény
difference to a sentencing judge. Whoever stands before a judge after such a plea is a cold-
blooded killer. Cold-blooded killers are entitled to life without parole, no matter their age.'

The problem created for the defense is whether any argument can result in a balancing
of characteristics and factors that will result in a sentence less than life without parole.
Nevada’s Supreme Court has never fhoroughly considered the rﬁultiple rationales that
accompany murder, including inexpefiencej theré are no opinions resembling the analysis
conducted in Ande.rsoﬁ, infra. When Nevada’s juries, and judges, are confronted with a
killing that involves multiple violerit acts and substantial victim suffering, they sentence
based upon emotion alone that arises from a slow painful death.

In this case, facing the Court was an 18-year-old, still in high school because of his
failure to progress in academic endeavors at the time of the crime, a minor who did not make
good judgments about doing his homework, much less demonstrate good judgment about a
cold, caleulated murder decision. Combined with Kody’s poor judgment was an emotional
component that an 18-year-old was incapable of dealing with in the same manner as a mature

adult. Kody was living with an18-year-old girl, out of wedlock, in her parehts’ home, who
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was probably looking forward to marrying him to justify their illicit relationship, who was
jealous of his ex—girlfriend. This is not to say Kody had no options.

Kody had clear optibns: a) blame his girlfriend, b) run from the crime scene when he
saw what Toni was doing; c) call the police; d) immediately report the crime upon leaving the
scene; e) refuse to help arrange a fight. Kody, not unexpectedly, did everything wrong. He
failed to protect or defend Michaela and he failed to protect or defend himself.

Without understanding the effect of Byford’s teaching on guilty pleas to First Degree
murder, and planning on ways to blunt the obvious conclusion by the Court that a f‘irst
Degree murderer is a cold calculating killer, évery person who pleads guilty to a First Degree
murder should be sentenced to a life without parole.

Eveﬁ considering that ﬂi_e Byford instriiction using' the words “cold” and “calculating”
-ﬁlay be an example of ‘hyperbole, the Byford case leaves a sentencing judge with no choice
but to name the First Degfee ‘murderer as a cold, calculating killer: they are cold, calculating
killers in Nevada as a matter of law.

With that knbwledge, counsel had two options: be thoroughly prepared at sentencing
in order to blunt, to the extent possible, the only iogical conclusion a Court can draw from
Nevada law: i.e., this criminal defendant is not'a cold-blooded killer: or, ensure the defendant
understands in advance he is getting life without parole. ;

Defense counsel thus has a substantial dilemma. No‘one wants to do a multi-week
jury trial and deal with the kinds of facts present in this case. The murder was clumsily
performed, the victim suffered needlessly if the plan from the beginning was to kill her, and
any jury would be reluctant to return home after delivering a decision of anything less than
First Degree murder and death to Kody Patten. Once fhe First begree murder verdict is

made, the result is foregone. Kody is a cold, calculating killer with no reason for the killing.
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The pressure to settle was enormous because the result is so predictable: a death penalty in a
rural community after a jury trial.

Mark Torvinen described the murder at the sentencing as thé most horrific murder the
Court had ever seen. There are lots of reasons this killing could be described as horrific; the
age of the victim; the suffering the victim endured before death; the multiple injuries inflicted
on her that did not result in death - all factors that point to a killer who did not know what .
she was doing (or an angly womaﬁ who wanted to inflict pain and shame on the vietim).4
Unfortunately, the statement by Kody’s counsel that there was no apparent reason for the
killing is eerily similar to an aggravating factor justif)dng the death penalty. The only
difference was the randomness factor.

In the light of the foregoing facts, defense counsel had a duty to fully inform Kody in
advance of his plea the éonclusion that would be drawn by the court at sentencing. Kody’s
sentence, given the state of Nevada law after Byford, would be life without parole for a cold-
blooded killer. Kodyvn'eeded to understand that no judge, sitting before a cold-blooded killer,
would allow the person ever to be released from the confines of a prison.

Kody was advisgd by his counsel that he had a chance of receiving a sentence that
allowed for release from prison. Kody clung to that hope when agreeing to enter into a plea

“agreement. If Kody had been advised he was admitting to being a cold, calculating killer by
entering into his plea, he would have never plead guilty and would have, instead, put the
. government to its burden of proof. Even if Kody lost, the only practical difference in Nevada

between life without parole and the death penalty is the location of one’s bed in prison. Kody

4 NRS 200.033(9), lists factors aggravating first:‘degree murder qualifying a perpetrator for the
death penalty is: The murder was committed upon one or more persons ... without apparent
motive. ' '
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should have been fully advised of this fact prior to plea, but he never knew. Kody was
shocked when he received life in prison without parole: he described it as having a knife
pushed into his body, and then having the knife broken off inside of him.

This is precisely the scheme SCOTUS was concerned about when considering cruel
and unusual punishment appeals.

Such a scheme prevents those meting out punishment from considering a
juvenile's “lessened culpability” and greater “capacity for change,” Graham v.
Florida, 560_U.8. 48, ————, ————, 130 _S5.Ct._2011, 2026-2027, 2029-
2030, 176 1.Ed.2d 825 (2010), and runs afoul of our cases’ requirement of
individualized sentencing for defendants facing the most serious penalties.

Miller v. Alabama, Graham v. Florida, and Roper v. Simmons,5 require an individualized

sentencing for defendants facing the most serious penalties.

Roper established that because juveniles have lessened culpability they are
less deserving of the most severe punishments. 543 U.S., at 569, 125 S.Ct,
1183. As compared to adults, juveniles have a “ ‘lack of maturity and an
underdeveloped sense of responsibility’ ”; they “are more vulnerable or
susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including peer
S.Ct, 1183. These salient characteristics mean that “[ilt is difficult even for
expert psychologists to differentiate between the juvenile offender whose
crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile
offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” Id., at 573, 125 8.Ct.

3 Three general differences between juveniles under 18 and adults demonstrate that juvenile offenders

cannot with reliability be classified among the worst offenders. First, as any parent knows and as the
scientific and sociological studies respondent and his amici cite tend to confirm, "[a] lack of maturity
and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility are found in youth more ofien than in adults and are
more understandable among the young. These qualities often result in impetuous and ill-considered
actions and decisions." {t has been noted that "adolescents are overrepresented statistically in virtually
every category of reckless behavior." In recognition of the comparative immaturity and irresponsibility
of juveniles, almost every State prohibits those under 18 years of age from voting, serving on juries, or
marrying without parental consent.

The second area of difference is that juveniles are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative
influences and outside pressures, including peer pressure. This is explained in part by the prevailing
circumstance that juveniles have less control, or less experience with control, over their own
environment. _

The third broad difference is that the character of a juvenile is not as well formed as that of an adult.
The personality traits of juveniles are more transitory, less fixed. Roper, at 554.
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1183. Accordingly, “juvenile offenders cannot with reliability be classified
among the worst offenders.” Id,, at 569, 125 S.Ct, _1183. A juvenile is not
absolved of responsibility for his actions, but his transgression “is not as
morally reprehensible as that of an adult.” Thompson, supra, at 835, 108 $.Ct.
2687 (plurality opinion).

Graham v. Florida, 176 L.Ed. 2d 825, 130 S, Ct. 2011, 560 U.S. 48 (2010).

While Kody was not a juvenile at the time of the crime, he was also not fully an adult,
he was still a minor. He was two months’ into the no man’s land between being a juvenile
(18) and adult (21) with full privileges of citizenship. Kody was entitled to a sentencing
proceeding that considered salient characteristics that accompany persons who are not fully
matured. Kody admits that his sentencing counsel was trying - under difficult circumstances
with an angry audience - to argue for parole at the end of a lengthy term of years. Under the
circumstances of this case and the pronouncements of Nevada law, he arguably had no
chance of any sentence less than life without parole. There could 'be no balancing of Kody's
characteristics in light of the fact the Court found him to be a cold blooded killer, as described

in Byford’s instructions.

No consideration of the salient characteﬁstics of youth were going to be considered
under the circumstances of this case.5 The killing was clumsily performed, resulting in
multiple injuries; the victim was beautiful and clearly exposed and shamed during the course
of the murder; the defense advised the killing was for no reason the defense understood.
When these factors are considered along with the determination mandatory by the Byford
instruction, Kody was going to prison for life without parole.

Judge Papez advised Kody: “You (have) tried to minimize your involvement in
Michaela’s murder. I don’t believe you. You were the primary perpetrator of
the murder.”

“Your acts of planning this murder, carrying out this murder in such a vicious

6 Jt is true that Judge Papez “tipped his hat” to the characteristics but there was no serious
consideration or analysis of any characteristics listed by SCOTUS.
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manner and attémpting to cover up this murder, are hardly the acts of an
impulsive, irrational, immature teenage mind. You ‘always had the power and
the ability, Mr. Patten, to stop the wheels of this’ murder that you put into
motion. You chiésé not to. Your blood runs cold.”

The sentencing judge completely disregarded the salient characteristics of youth, all
youth, in determining the appropriate sentence: characteristics pointed out by SCOTUS. Part
of the concern of -SCOTUS with juvenile offender sentencing is the very conclusions that
Judge Papez reached: Kody had the power and ability to stop the wheels of murder and failed
to do so. Kody’s blood ran cold. But one of the characteristics of youth, all youth, is they get
themselves into situations they have no judgment or aﬁility to get themselves out of.

If, in fact, Michaela was béing repeatedly struck by Toni in the process of a fist fight,
logically she would fall down and hit her head, and convulsifmS could naturally follo_w ahead
injury. Kody beIieved Michaela’s convu]sidﬁ were evidence of dying, not a recoverable‘
medical inciden;c. Under thoée ciréuinsféncés, éj'ﬁvenile would believe it is proper to end
Michaela’s suffering.” But given the legal cbiisequéncés of a First Degree murder plea arising
out of the Byford instructions, Kady was conddsivély a cdld; caleulating killer and was °
entitled to no consideration of salient characteristics of youth. Nevada’s legal description of a
First Degree murderer creates a sentencing scheme that forecloses juvenile balancing.

The problem that arise.s with 'Byford’sl instruction, it éxcludeé juvenile and minor
offenders who have plead guilty to First Degree nurder to be cold and calculating, such
murderers are excluded from life with parole offenders because théy‘ are by necessity of law,

cold and calculating. Such killers deserve, as Judge Papez sentenced, to never see freedom.

7 Assuming for argument’s sake that some of the common elements of the several descriptions of
the incident given by the defendants were true; these facts appear across the accounts. The
variations involve the perpetrator and the specifics of the criminal agency causing Michaela’s
death
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TONI FRATTO'S JAILHOUSE CONFESSION IS NEW EVIDENCE THAT CASTS DOUBT UPON WHETHER
Koby's PLEA WAS NOTA I\HSCARRIAGE OF J UST[CE DUE TO ACTUAL INNOCENCE

Toni: Fratto S clalm that she performed the murder while Kody just stoc;d around is
subétanhal evidence that Kody was not guilty of first-degree murder. During the proffer to
the District Attorney, Kody stated that he was only facilitating the two young girls’ settling
fheir differences, This supports the Fratto claim to Linda Fields. Those two statements bely
any claim that Kody kidnapped Michaela to the place of the crime or that Kody assisted Toni

in her criminal deed of murder.

A colorable showing of actual innocence may overcome the procedural bars
under the fundamental miscarriage of justice standard. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860,
887, 34 P.3d 519, 537 (2001). However, Matthews has not made a colorable showing of
actual innocence because he failed to show that ™it is more likely than not that no
reasonable juror would have convicted him in light of . . . new evidence." Calderon v.
Thompson, 523 U.S. 538, 559 (1998) (emphasis added) (quoting Schiup v. Delo, 513
U.S. 208, 327 (1995)); see also Pellegrini, 117 Nev, at 887, 34 P.3d at 537; Mazzan v
Warden, 112 Nev. 838, 842, 921 P.2d 920, 922 (1996)

Matthews v. State (Nev. App., 2015)

Because this case involved a unique murder pattern, where one of the participants
remained hidden for fnoﬁths, the actual roles played by each is very important. If Kody had
no motive, and Toni did, a jury may well regard the absence of motive, along with the
];ailhouse confession of Toni Fratto, as substantial evidence creating reasonable doubt as to
Kody’s involvement in this crime.

KODY’S SENTENCE WAS DISPROPORTIONATE TO THE SENTENCE IMPOSED ON TONT FRATTO FOR THE
IDENTICAL CRIME., ' ' ;

Toni Fratto and Kody_ Patten plead to the identical criminal incident. The
distinguishing factor in the two cases was Toni’s willingness to testify against Kody at trial.
No trial was ever conducted. Yet Toni received the benefit of future parole consideration, a

penalty absolﬁtely denied to Kody.
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While the unique characteristics of children must be considered differently than adults for
the purposes of sentencmg, the Eighth Amendment does not prohibit a sentence of life
with the possibility of parole for juveniles. See Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S, ~——, —~——
130 S.Ct. 2011, 3030 (2010) (holding that “[TThe Elghth Amendment does not foreclose
the possibility that persons convicted of ... crimes committed before adulthood will remain
behind bars for life, It does forbid States from making the judgment at the outset that those
offenders never will be fit to reenter society”). Moreover, while Cruz' sentences are severe,
they are not “ ‘so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience,’

“ even considering his youth and his role in the offense. Blume v. State, 112 Nev. 472, 475,
15 P.2d 282, 284 (1996) (quoting Cudverson v. State, 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220,

221-22 (1979) ).
Cruzv. State, 381 P.3d 605(Table} (Nev., 2012).

The United States Supreme Court has addressed the issue of juveniles and death sentences
and life without parole sentences in the recent past. A good review of the issues is provided by
Justice Sotomayor in the CampbeH decision (a denial of certiorari):

Trial judges making the determination whether a defendant should be condemned to die
in prison have a grave responsxblhty, and the fact that Ohio has set up a scheme under
which those determinations "cannot bé reviewed" is deeply concermng Life without
parole "is the second-miost severe penalty permitted by law." Harmelin v. Michigan, 501
U.S. 957 1001, 111 S,Ct. 2680, 115 L.Ed,2d 836 (1991) (KENNEDY, J., concurring in part
and concurrlng in judgment). In recent years this Court has recognized that, although
death is different, “life without parole sentences share some characteristics with death
sentences that are shared by no other sentences."” Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 69,
130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010). "Imprisoning an offender until he dies alters the
remainder of his life 'by a forfeiture that is irrevocable.' " Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S.
460, 474~475, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012) (quoting Graham, 560 U.S., at 69,
130 S.Ct. 2011 ): Alife-without-parole sentence "means denial of hope; it means that
good behavior and character improvement are immaterial; it means that whatever the
future might hold in store for the mind and spirit of the convict, he will remain in prison
for the rest of his days Id., at 70,130 S Ct. 2011 (internal quotation marks and bracket
omitted).

Campbell v. Ohio, 138 S.Ct. 1059(Mem), 200 L Ed ad 502(Mem) (2018)

It is true, but facile, that Kody was not 18 at the time of the commission of the crime in this
case. But there is no magic line that occurs beﬁveen 18 years and 18 years plus a couple months
that justifies the difference between “life with” and “life without.” While SCOTUS has not rejected
a sentence of death in prison for juveniles, the iésue reinaiq's opén'depenc_ling upén the makeup
of SCOTUS and changing senfencing paﬁétﬂs ﬂlrbughout the states. Nevadé’_s sentencing scheme
does not violate the iﬂs found in other state sentencing échemes respecting juvenﬁes: Nevada’s

scheme provides for balancing mitigating circumstances against aggravating circumstances.
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However, because even defense counsel in this case emphasized an aggravating factor: murder
without -apparent reason, the sentence ultimately imposed. was inadvertently skewed to life

without parole.

FOR ALL THE REASONS STATED ABOVE, ALONG WITH THE EVOLVING KNOWLEDGE BASE ABOUT
YOUTHFUL OFFENDERS, KODY SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA AND SEEK JUSTICE
BEFORE AN ELKO COUNTY JURY. :

It was clear from the beginning of the case that the State intended to seek the harshest
punishment available against Patten, filing a notice of intent to seek the death penalty almost
immediately. Defense counsel were ineffective for failing to argue that the sentence was
dispropofﬁonate to the crime, given Kody’s youth and other factors. Counsel’s decisions were
unreasonable - particularly where the evidence of mitigation was so compelling,

Patten also alleges his trial counsel were ineffective for failing to argue to the trial

court that a sentence of life without the possibility of parole violated the Eighth Amendments
of the Constitution of the _United States and Article I, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution,
where the punishment was grossly disproportionate to the crime, particularly when the
sentence failed to take into full account Patten’s youth and all the implications of that youth.
To make matters worse,- counsel failed to point out the jealousy motivation as the reason for
Toni’s participation, at any level, in the crime.

In sum, defense counsél mounted no adequate defense to spare the life of an eighteen-
year-old defendant. Patten’s sentence cannot withstand scrutiny under Graham and Miller.

The Graham Court reviewed its capital proportionality analysis precedent and applied
it to non-homicide juvenile offenses in determining that life without parole sentences violate
the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendmients. 136 S.Ct. 2011, éiﬁng Harmelinv. Mfchigan, 501
U.S. 957; Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551; Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982); Tison v.

Arizona, 481 U.S. 137 (1987); Keﬁnedy . Lbﬁisifma, 554 U.S. 407 (2008); and Atkins v.
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Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002). In particular, the Court looked to, and rejected, the
penologicgl juéﬁﬁqgﬁp_hs fo_r-l'ife Wiﬂiout' Rarqlé _'se‘nten.ce,s for juvenile bffenders, The Court
rejected rétributiéﬁ, becauée “the case for retriiauﬁon is not as strong with a minor as with
an adult.” Graham, 130 S.Ct. at 2028. SCOTUS said deterrence cannot justify the severe
sentence, because “‘_’rhe same characteristics that render juveniles less culpable than adults
suggest ... that juveniles will be less susceptible to deterrence.” Id. (quoting Roper, 543 U.S.
at 571). SCOTUS said incapacitation also lacked justification for a life withéut parole
sentence. “It is difficult even for expert psychologists to differentiéte between the juvenile
offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile
offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” Id. at 2029 (quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at
573). Finally, SCOTUS said the sentencing goaj of rehabilitation is not served with a life
without parole sentence, because denying a defendant the right to at some time reenter
society “is not appropriate in light of a juvenile n.onho.micide offender’s capacity for change
emd Tiniited yoral cdlpability 7. st 2030.

The senter}cing court’s conclusion that Kody Patten, an eighteen-year-old minor,
possessed the quality.of a “cold blooded killer” arose out of Nevada jurisprudence, but fails to
take into account the disabiiities ofan eighteeﬁ—yéar—éld youth whose prior histc;ary gave no
clue of such an unbalanced personality. |

A young man who decides to take the blame for a murder érime, on his own éhoulders,
in order to protect his giflfriend does not jive with a young man who brutally strips and kills
an ex-girlfriend for no reason. Thislogical gap should have been argued to the sentencing .
judge in mitigation of his sentence. Even though it was imlﬁerfeétly argued, what is Wworse, it
was never seriously considered.

Nevada’s legislature has addressed life in prison for juvenile offenders and the Nevada
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Supreme Court noted the change;

. The Legrslature amended NRS 176. 025 in: 2015 to prohlblt a sentence of
11fe w1thout the possibility of parole for a juvenile offender convicted of any crime,
see 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 152, § 2, at 618, but made this provision applicable only
to crimes committed after October 1, 2015, or before October 1, 2015, if the
person is convicted after October 1, 2015, see 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 152, § 5, at 619

Hicks v. State (2016) t

This legislative change, at a minimum, is evidence of an enlightned policy to limit the
imposition of life without possibility of parole to those youthful offenders who patently fail to
appreciate the consequences of their actions. This change also supports the argument
provided above with regard to SCOTUS’s views of the etfectiveries‘e of justifications for
retribution, deterrence, incapacitation and rehabilitation on juveniles.

Patten su‘omlts that his plea and sentence should be w1thdrawn for each argument
cited above regardlng the rneffectwe performance of his counsel, and because his prosecution
and sentence runs afoul of the Justlﬁcatlons reJected by SQOTUS. He also submits that his
sentence is grossly dispro;po_rtionate to the crirnle charged, thereby v_iolating his right to be

free from cruel and unusual punishments. U.S. Const. amend. VIII & XIV.

. CONCLUSION
Because of multlple failures by the defense to prepare a thorough investigation of the

facts of the case, Kody-plead gullty to a ﬁrst degree murder charge he d1d not commit, and
shonld be entitled to litigate before a jury. ﬁis plea was made without a thorough
understanding of what was awaiﬁng him at eentencing. Kody was told at arraignment that
the Court would fashion a safitings that was just: he was not fully informed prior to his plea

that the only just sentence fora cold, calculating killer was life without parole.

R
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Kody’s youth and inexperience led to substantial mistakes in the handling of his case.
Kody determined to take the blame for the murder, and ultimately was forced by
circumstances to acknowledge an accomplice. However, even after her role was disclosed,

Kody continued in his error to take the blame and not report the true facts of the case until it

was too late.

Dated: ] .0 Weonel. 19

S AT —
Ric%;ard Ww. §ears, 5489 ~

457 Fifth Street
Ely, Nevada 89301
Attorney for Kody Patten

VERIFICATION

Kopy PATTEN, being first duly sworn, upon oath deposes and says:

That he is the Petitioner in the above-entitled matter; that he has read the within and
foregoing WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS - POST CONVICTION and knows the contents thereof; that the
same is true to his knowledge, except for those matters therein stated on information and belief,
and as to those matters, he believes them to be true.

/
/5 KonﬁATTEN

Subscribed and Sworn to before me
this (5%day of _2tpects ,2019.

NOTARY PUBLIC

STATE OF NEVADA )
)
COUNTY OF WHITE PINE )
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CASE NO.: CV-HC-13-116 2140 CO HISTRICT GOURY

DEPT. NO.: 1 B ﬁ

LLERE——m

IN THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT .
iIN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ELKO, STATE QOF NEVADA

KODY CREE PATTEN, |
ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT
titioner, - e e
v peitones OF HABEAS CORPUS
WILLIAM “BILL” GITTERE, WARDEN
ELY STATE PRISON
Respondent.

Before this Court is a Petition for Wit of Habeas Corpus {hereinafter "Petition”) filed by
Kody Cree Patten (hereinafter “Petitioner”), in propiia persona, on February 20, 2013.
Petitioner then filed a Supplemental Pefition for Writ of Habeas Carpus (Post Conviction) and
R‘eq uest for Evidentiary Hearing (hereinafier “Sup plement”, by and through Richard W. Sears,
Esq. Thereafter, the State of Nevada (hereinafter ‘;Respondent"], by and through Elko County
District Attorney, Tyler J. Ingram, Esq., filed a Motion to Dismiss Petition and Supplemental
Petition for Untimeliness (Laches); and in the Alternative, Motion to Extend Time for State to
Answer Writ and/or Supplemental Writ on July 9, 2019. Petitioner filed an Opposition 1o
Dismissal of Supplement to Post-Conviction Wit on August 15, 2019. This Courl issued an
Order Denying Motion to Dismiss and Order Granting Motion to Extend Time for State’s
Response on January 16, 2020. Thereafter, Respondent filed an Opposition to Petition for Writ
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of Habeas Corpus and Cpposition to Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on July
28, 2020. '

Pefitioner is currently incarcerated at Ely State Prison, On May 9, 2012, Petitioner
entered a plea of guilty to the criminal offense of First-Degree Murder with the Use of a Deadly
Weapon pursuant to the terms of a written Statutory Plea Agreement.

“Any person convicted of a crime and under sentence of death or imprisonment who
claims that the conviction was obtained, or that the sentence was imposed, in violation of the
Canstitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of this State _ . ." may file a post-
conviction petition for writ of habeas Corpus. NRS 34.724(1). In cases where the conviction
was obtained through a piea of guiﬁy. a petition for writ of habeas corpus is limited to ¢laims
that the plea was “involuntarily or unknowingly entered or that the plea was entered without
offective assistance of counsel.” NRS 34.810{1)(a). A post-conviction habeas pefitioner “is
entitied to a post-convictiorn evidentiary hearing when he asserts claims supported by specific
factual allegations not belied by the record that, if true, would entitle him to helief.” Mann v.
State, 118 Nev. 361, 353,46 P 3d 1228, 1229 {2002).

Petitioner makes several contentions in both his Petition and Supplement. This Court

will address each contention in turn. As a preliminary matler, Pefitioner refers to himself
several fimes in his Supplement as a “minor.” Nevada law recagnizes those who attained the
age of 18 as adults. At all relevant times, Petitioner had attained 18 years of age or older.
A. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel |
" Adefendant who pleads guitty upon the advice of counsel may attack the validity of the

guilty plea by showing that he received ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth
Arnendment to the United States Constitution. To suceeed on such a claim, a defentdant must
arove hoth that: (1} counsel’s perforinarice fell below an objective standard of reasonableness;
and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not
have pled guilty. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The objective standard of

Page 2 of 16
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reasonableness is measured by prevailing prafessional norms. id. at 688.
1. Defense Counse! “told Hon. Papez that [Petitioner] had said everything to the

police need [sic] to convict [Petitioner] of 1st Degree Murder.”
petitioner does not ideniify whete in the record Defense Counsel {"Counsel”) made this
statement to Hon. Papez. Even if Counsel nad made this statement to Hon. Papez, Petitioner
does not show now Counsels performance fell below an objective standard of
reasonableness, nor how, but for this failure, there is a reasonable probability that Petitioner

would not have pled guilty.
At his Change of Plea hearing prior to the Sentencing hearing, Petitioner admitied to

avery element of first-degree murder with the use of a deadly weapon while under oafl. it thus
perplexes this Court how Counsel's alleged statement, which essentially acknowiedged
Pefitioner's admissions, would amount to ineffective assistance of counsel. The Courl
sherefore denies the Pefition as to this ground.

2 Counsel said that he “had been speaking with the DA [sic] about a deal since
around pre-lim fsicl.” _

Petiioner alleges that Counsel had been negotiating with the District Attorney’s Office
since around the time of the Prefiminary hearing. Again, Pefitioner faits to show how Counsel's
plea bargain strategy fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Plea bargaining is 2
normal segment of a criminal defehse gttomey’s job. Again, even if Petitioner were able fo
show that Counsel's strategy was objectively unreasonal_)le, he has still not shown hdw, but
for this strategy, there is a reasonable probability that Petitioner would not have pled guilty.
The Court theréfore denies the Petition as fo this ground.

3. Counsel told Petitioner thit he would be convicted and get the death penalty if
he went to trial, baged on the testimony of Toni Fratto, his ¢o-defendant.
Petitioner alleges that Counsel told him that he woutd be convicted and sentenced to

death if he chose to go to frial. Petitioner fails to show where in the record these statements
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were madg, nor dees he show how these statements, if made, fel below an objective standard
of reasonableness for Counsel. Counsel advising Petitioner about the likelhood of conviction,
given the extensive evidence against Pefitioner, is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Even
if so advising Petitioner were found to be objectively unreasonable, however, Pefitioner has
also not shown how, but for Counsel's advice, there is reasonaﬁle probabiity that Petitioner
would have chosen ta ga to trial. The Court therefore denies the Petition as to this ground.

4. Counsel told Petitioner that because of his Pre-Sentence Investigation report he

would not be “maxed out at sentencing.”

Petitioner alleges that Counsel told him that his Pre-Sentence in\re_stigati on report ("PS!
report”), militated against him being placed in the higih end of the sentencing guidelines.
Petitioner adain fails to show where in the record this staternent was made or state how
Counsel making it f&ll below an objective standard of reasonableness. Even dssuming that it
was objectively unre'asonabie for Counsel o make such a st:atemﬁt, howéver, Petitioner’s
claim still fails. |

Regardless of any alleged statement by Counsel, F’ehtmner was aware of all possible
sentences before him, as well as the fact that the Court did not have to faliow the sentencing
recommendations of Parole and Probation in its PSI repbrt ot that of any of the parties.
Petitioners choices were to go to trial and risk the possibility of being sentericed to death, ar
to take the plea deal and risk that he would be sentenced to fife without the possibility of parole
mstead of life with the possibility of parole. F'etrlloner was aware too of the details of the
hemous wolent, sadistic murder to which he was p[eadlng and which the Court would have to
weigh against any mitigating factors fo determine his sentence. Noihmg in the Petition provides
any support for the contention that Petitioner would have chosen ta go fo trial and risk death
but for Counsel's siatement about the PSI repott. The Court therefore denies the Petition as
fo this ground.

5. Counsel failed fo show that Pafitioner did not inflict the life-ending wounds to
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Micaela Costanzo.

Petitioner states that his counsel was ineffective for failing to show that Petitioner did
not personally deal the blow that killed victim Micaeta Costanzo. As Respondent aptly points
out, however, “a defendant will not be refieved of crimina iability for murder when his action
was a substantial factor in bringing about the death of the victim.” Lay v. State, 110 Nev, 1188,
1182-93 (1994). The record clearly demonstrates that Petitioner's actions were a significant
factor in the victim's death— during his Change of Plea hearing, Petitioner confessed fo
stabbing the victim in the neck with the semated end of an entrenching tool; the autopsy report
stated that the victim died due to exsanguination caused by mu ltiple stab and slash wounds to
her face and neck. Pefitioner's actions were thus clearly a substantiat factor in bringing about
the viclim's death. It was therefore not objectively unreasonable for Counsel nof to focus on
showing which particular act by which particular defendant actually killed the victim. Further,
Petitioner has not shoewn that there i a reasonable probability that he would not have pled
quilty had Counse! been able to show who struck the finat killing blow. The Court therefore
denies he Petition as 1o this ground.

&. Counsel did not investigate witnesses.

Pefitioner next claims that he gave Counsel and private investigator the names of
witnesses, which Counsei failed fo investigate. Peiitionet does niot identify these witnesses, or
what infdrmation they would have provided—itis therefore impossible to deduce how Gounsel
not calling these unknown persons to provide unknown testimeny could have falien below an
objective standard of reasonableness. Petifioner also neither states nor shows that there is a
reasonable probability that Petitioner would not have pled guilty had Counset found and/or
investigated these unknown witnesses. The Court therefote denies the Petition as to this
ground.

7. Counsel told Petitioner that the Court would not accept his guilty plea if he based
it on the factual basis that he himself prepared and that he would instead have fo
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hase it on his first statement or confession.

Petitioner next states that Counsel prevented him from using his prepared factual basis,
which would have stated that he did not kill the victim, in court. Taking Petitionet's a!legations
as true, and therefore assuming that Counsel did provide this advice to Petitionet, Counsel
would have been exactly correct. The Court could not have accepted a guilty plea to murdes
where the factual basis for that plea stated that Petitioner did not kil the victim. Petitioner has
therefore not shown that this advice fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.

Further, if Counsel had not exptained to Petifioner that his personally prepared factual
basis was insufficient, the Court would have had to have done so. Regardless of Counsel's
advice, therefore, Petitioner would have been in the same position: either stand by the factual
basis he had prepared and go to trial, with all its uncertainties, or present a factual basis that
admitted to killing Micaela Costanzo. Pefifioner has therefore not shown that there i a
reasonable probability that he would not have pled guitty without Counsel's advice. The Court
therefore denies the Petition as ta this ground. .

8. During a “closed court hearmg," Pefitioner fried to fire his counsel ahd counsel
said that Pefitioner was makmg the second higgest mistake of his life and it would
result in him being put on death row. '
Petiioner states that he attempted to fire Counsel, but that Caunset tokd him that doing

so wauld be a mistake and result in him likely receiving a death sentence. Petitioner does not
allege how this statement by Counsel fell below an objéctive standasd of reasonableness.
Petitioner further does not allege that, without thiis stdtement, there is a reasonable probability
that he would not Have pled guilty. At most, without this statement, Petitioner might have fired
Counsel and been appointed or retained a different attorney. There is no way 1o know what
attorney’s atlvice woukl have been, nor how that advice would have changed Petitioners

predilection for accepting a plea agreement. The Gourt therefore denies the Petition as {o this

ground.
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9. Counsel did not “put forth any motion that [Petitioner] asked to be added and
also falled to get statements from witnesses.”

Petitioner states that Counsel did not file the mofions he asked to be filed, nor did he
investigate the witnesses and evidence that he asked Counsel to investigate. The failure to
investigate withesses ground has already been addressed, supra.

As to the failure fo file motions, Pefitioner has failed to state with specificity what facts
and claims for relief those motions would have contained. i's'therefore unclear how Counsel's
failure to file those motions fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Pefitioner also
does not allege or show that, but for the failure to file these motiuim, there |5 a reasonable
probability that he would not have pled guitty. The Court is iﬂerefofe denyingl the Petition as to
this ground. ' 3 - '

10.Counss! failed to “get evidence to constitite a differénit sutéome.”

Pefitioner states that Counse! failed to get evidence to constitute a ciifferent outcome.
Petitioner dogs not suggest what evidence Counsel should have found, nor how that evidence
would create 2 different outcome. Without knowing what evidence Counsel cjid not find, the
Court gannof say that Counsel was deficient for not finding it. Petitioner has failed o show that
Counsel's aclions fell below an objective standand of reasonabléness as to this ground.
Further, Petitioner has not shown that there is & reasonable brobability that he wo uld not have
pled guitty had Courisel found this unknown evidence. The Court theréfore denies the Petition
as fo this ground as well. ‘ ' :

11.Courisel failed to fully advise Petitioiier of all 6f his defenses to first-degree
murder ﬁrior to entry ofa Qtiilty plea, inclﬁding the “pretrial i:hase of defense.”

Petitioner claims that Counsel failed to advise him of all his defenses te first-degree
murder ptior to his decision to enter a guilty plea. Petitioner does not specify of what defenses
Counsel should have informed him: 1.8., how Counsel's advice was deficient such that it fell

below an objective standard of reasonableness. Without knowing how Counsel's advice was
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deficient, the Court cannot know whether, but for that deficient advice, there is a reasonable
probability that Petitioner would not have bied guilty. The Court must deny the Petifion as to
this ground as well.
12.Counse! allowed Petitioner 1o make a proffer without knowing whether or not he
wés committed to the plea agreement.

Here, Pefitioner argues that Counsel was ineffective because Counsel did nat inform
Petilionet of all the consequences of withdrawing from 2 proffer. Petitioner dees not state of
what consequences Caunse! should have informed him, ner how Counse¥'s failure to do so fell
below an objective standard of reasonableness. Petitioner merely states that the govemment
learned ihformation it could not have otherwise obtained. As Petitioner had already confessed
before the proffer, % is unknown what information Pefitioner believes the District Attormey
learned only at the proffer. |

As Petifioner has falled to show that Counsels failure to irform hin of unknown
consequences of withdrawing from the proffer fell below an objective standard of
reasonableness, and as Pefitioner has not alleged that, had he been informed of these
consequences, there is a reasonable probability that he would not have pled guilty, the Petition

is denied as to this ground.
13.Counsel failed to investigate and replicate the injuries on the victiin, resuﬁing in
a decision to plead duilty on insufficient facts.
Petitioner contends that Counsel should have replicated the injusies an the victim so as
to determine which injuries Petitioner made and which were caused by his co-defendant. As
Petitioner had already confessed to shoving, hitting, and stabbing the victim, actions that were

substantial factors in causing ihe victim's death, Pefitioner cannot show why Counsel's
decision not fo replicate the injuries to the victim fell below an objective standard of

reasonableness for a defense attorney. Pefitioner is also unable to show that there is a
reasonable probability that, had Counsel been able to replicate these injuries, Petitioner would
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not have entered a guilty plea. The Petition is denied as to this ground.
14 Counsel failed to prepare a psychelogical evaluation of Petitiorer to explain his
rationale in protecting his co-defendant.

Petitioner states that Counsel failed to seek a psychological evaluation that would have
explained his rationale for not revealing that his co-defendant had participated in the victim’s
murder with him. Petitioner admitted fo causing many of the severe cuts that caused the
exsanguination that led to the vi&lim’s death in this case. He is, a substantial cause of her
death. Petitioner’s rationale for not menfioning his co-defendant does not mitigate his own
culpability, and so it cannct be said that Counsel's failure to inquire into this fell below an
objective standard of reasonableness. Petitioner also does not show how gdetting this
evaluation wauld have created a reasonable probabiiity that Petitioner would not have eﬁtered
a guiity plea.

Further, there were two mentat heatth evaluations prepared for Petitioner: a psychiatric
evaluation by Dr. H. Hale Henson, MD, and a psychological compatency evaluation by Dr.
Sally Farmer, PhD. Both evaluations indicated that Petitioner had no compromised cognitive
funciions, and that he understood the charges and parties involved in his ctiminal case. DI.
Henson, given the opportunity to diagnose Petitioner with a mental illness, stated that he found
“no diaghosis or condition”, Dr. Famer indicated that Petitioner had been evaluated for a
period of approximately two weeks, during which Petitioner did not show any symptoms of any
mental disorder that could interfere with his competency, Petitioner has not stated what mental
healih disorder he believes Counsel would have discovered, had another evaluation been
performed, nor how not doing a third evaluation fell below an objective standard of
reasonableness, nor how the performance of this third evaluation would have created a
reasanable probability that Petiioner would not have entered a guilly plea. The Pefition is

therefore denied as to this ground.
15.Patitioner argues that Counsel should have informed him that it was virtually
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¢ertain the Court would sentence him to life without the passibility of parola.

Petitioner argues that Counsel should have informed him that & was virtvally certain
that between the opfions the Court had of sentencing Petittoner fo life with the possibility of
parote or life without the possibility of parole, the Court would choose to sentence Petitioner to
life without parole. Pefitioner claims that he was "shocked when he received life in prison
without parole” describing it as “having a knife pushed iﬁto his body.” This Court notes the
glaring irony in Petitioners statement.

Petitioner was informed by the Court when he entered his plea that it was not a parly to
the plea agreement beiween Gounsel and the District Atiomey, and that the Court was not
baund to follow the recommendations of either party. Pe’}iﬁoner stated on the record that he
understood this. _

Further, Petitioner's Memorandum of Plea agteement also stated thdt the Court could
sentence Petitioner to life with or without parole, and that that decision would be made solely
by the Court, regardiess of the recommendations by Counsel or the District Atiomey. Pefiioner
sighed that agreement. Petitioner was thus infoimed exactly what co;uld happen upon him
taking the plea. Counsel's actions thus did not fall below an objéctive standard of
reasonaialeness. _ ‘

Yet i‘urther, Pefitioriér has neither allegéd nor shown how, but for Counsel's actions,
there is a reasonable probability that Pefitioner would not have pied guilty. Even if Petitioner
had not been informed by Counsej that the Court had final sentericing authority, the Court so
informed Pefitioner at his Charige of Plea hearing. Pelitiorter was then given the opportunity
to decide whether he wantad to go forward with changing his plea, or whether he wanted to
withdraw his guilty plea and go to trial. Petitioner stated that he stilt wanted to plead. As he has
met neither prong of Strickland, the Pelition fails as to this ground as well.

16.Counsel told Petitioner that he could get the benefit of a lesser sentence without

having to admit to a murder he did not commit.
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Petitioner afleges that Counsel toid him he could plead to murder without having to
admit to committing a murder. If frue, this allegation would fall below an objective standard of
reasonableness for an attorney. This allegation is belied by the record, however. Petitioner
was specifically questioned about understanding his plea by bath Counsel and the Court af his
Change of Plea hearing and given an opportunhity fo withdraw his plea and go fo trial, should
he change his mind. He also admited to cominitting the murder in his Memorandum of Plea
agreement, which he signed. Therefore, there is no basis to believe Counsel provided this
advice to Petitioner. Further, as the facts of this allegation are belied by the record, there is
also not a reasonabte probability that, without this advice, Petitioner would have chosen to go
to trial. As the facts do not support this allegation, the Court denies the Petition as to this

ground.

17.Counsel divulged information to the press and unknown information to the

District Attorney.

Petitioner states that Counse! divulged information to the press and District Attorney
that harmed his case. Petitioner provides no information as te what was said to the press or
District Altorney. Even if this Court assumes what Petitioner alleges is true, it cannot be
detemnined, without more, whether Counsel's dctions fell below an objective standard of
reasonableness, nor whether, without these commiunications, Petitioner would have chosen
t0 go to trial in lieu of pléading guilty. As Petitioner has not provided any substantive grounds
to support his allegations, the Court must deny his Pefition as to this ground as well.

18.During a “plea deal meeting” with the District Attorney, Defense Counisel Said to

Petitioner that, “You being there is a3 if you put the knife in her throat.” Petitioner

roplied “I didn’t kill her!” Defense Gounsel then said, “Okay, if your [sic] not

taking the deal we’re done here.”

Petitioner next states that Counsel told Petitioner he was just as culpable of killing ihe
victim in this case whether he stuck the final blow to her or not. Assuming this conversation
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between Petitioner and his attomey took place as he cfaims it did, Petitioner still fails to show
how Counsel's advice fell below an objective standard of reascnableness or that there is a
reasonable probability that, but for this statement by Counsel, Petitioner would not have
entered a guiky plea. |

Petitioner has admitted to engaging in many of the violent stabs and cuts that led the
victim in this case to exsanguinate; as indicated above, it is irelevant whether Petitioner or his
co-defendant thrust the final, killing blow. The Court thus finds it riecessary to deny the: Petition

as to this ground as welf.
- The Court notes that Petitioner also alleges under this ground that Counsel was

prejudiced against him. Petitioner has alleged only that Counse! essentially explained to him
that his not dealing the final blow to the victim was immaterial, and that Counsel decided on
ending the plea negotiations after Pelitianer indicated be would not be taking the plea deal.
There is nothing in those statements to support that Counsel was préjudiced against his client
and so provided ineffective assistance; furihier, there is no reason to belleve, even if Counsel
were prejudiced against his cliert, that, absent that prejudicé, the effeci of which is unknown,
that Petifioner would not have eventually chosen to plead guilty. The Court denies this ground
under either theory of ineffective assistance, therefore.
B. Constitutional Objections

Petitioner argues that the sentencing Court and Nevada faw removed the possibility for

balancing mitigating and aggravating factors in defermining his sentence, and that this lack of
balancing is violative of the Eighth Amendment. Firstly, there was, In fact, balancing at the
Sentencing hearing— Counsel, the District Attomey, and the Court all addressed both the
mitigating factor of Pefitionet’s young adult age, as well as the aggravating factor of the
hemnous, vicious nature of the underlying offense. Secondly, the caselaw Petitioner cites to
finds that it is cruet and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment to sentence

juveniles to life in prison without the possibility of parole. Although Petitioner was a young man
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when he commitied his crime, he was not a juvenile. Petitioner fails to provide any applicable
caselaw regarding sentencing adults 1o life in prison without the possibility of parole. As his
sentence does not violate the Eighth Amendment, his Petition is denied as to this ground.
C. Misunderstood Guilty Plea

Petitioner next states that he did not understand the ptea he mdde. Petitioner admitted
to murder in the first-degree with the use of a deadly weapan on'the record, under oath, after

being extensively canvassed by the Court and Counsel about whether he understocd the
nature and elements of the offense to which h{e was pleading. He also had the appaortunity to
stop the hearing to ask quesﬁons. He speciﬁcaliy stated on the fecord thdt he murdered
Micaeta Castahzo maliciously, willfully, without Iamﬁul justification, and that the crime was not
an accident. He furiher stated that he did this with a deadly weapon. These facts are aleo laid
out in Petitioner's signed Memarandum of Plea agreement. Petitioner's decision to plead guilty
to first-degree murder was knowing and volunfary. As the record citectly contradicts
Petiﬁonei’s‘; claim that he misunderstoad his guilty plea. The Court is denying the petition as to

this ground as well.

D. Judicial Prejudice
1. Hoia. Papez had already décide‘d Petitioner’s sentence prior to the Sentencing
hearing. _ |
Pe’.ci'tioner states that he believes Hon. Papez had already decided Petitioner's sentence
befora the Sentencing hearing. Petitioner puts forth no evidence as to how Hon. Papez was
unduly prejudiced against him, however. Further, this Court sees nothing in the record which
gvidences bias or prejudice by Han. Papez for or against any parly or attomey in this matter.

Therefore, the Court denies the Petition as to this ground as well.

2. Hon. Papez fold the Petitioner, “Mr. Patten, your blood runs cold.”
Petitioner believes that Hon. Papez was unduly prejudiced against him because Hon.

Papez made this statement about Petitioner during his Semtencing hearing. Petitioner had by
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this time confessed to heating a sixteen-year-old girl, his childhood friend, with a shovel, cutting
and sfabbing her with a dagger;' stripping her of her clothing, and leaving her in a shallow
grave. Hon. Papez was tasked with assessing Petilioner’s crimes and deciding the apprapriate
sentencing under the law. The recordsupports Hon. Papez's statement. This Court sees no
evidence of prejudice by Hon. Papez. The Petilion is denied as to this ground as well.

E. New Evidence and Actual Iinocence

Following the precedent of the Federal Gircuit Courts, the Nevada Supreme Court has |

held that an evidentiary hedririg regarding actual innocence is required where the new
avidence, “if credited,” would show that it is more Bkely than not that na réasonab!e jury would
find the petitioner guitty beyond .a reasonable doubt. Bemy v. State, 131 Nev. 957, 967-968
(2015). The Court "must make its determination concerning the petitioner's innocence in light
of all the evidence." Schlup v. Delo, 513 U.S. 298, 328,

Petitioner claims that Toni Fratto, his co-defendant, made a jailhouse confessicn

wherein she stated that she had cornmitied the musder by herself while Petitioner “just stood
around.” This Court must take co-defendant’s alleged jaithouse confession and consider it in
light of all the evidence in this case, including Petitioner's confession; the specificities of which
were previously corroborated by co-defendant’s proffer. In light of all the evidence in this cazs,
co-defendant’s alleged jailhouse confession does not make it more likely than not that no
reasonable juror would have conviciett the petticner of the charged offenses. Thus, this Cotrt
denies Petitioner's request for an evidentiary hearing as to this ground.
F. Disproportionate Sentencing

Petitioner states that the sentence he received was diépmportionally harsher than the
sentence his co-defendant received. The sentence Petitioner received was within the statutory
guidelines under NRS 200.030(4) and was contained within the Memorandum of Plea
agreement that Petitioner signed; Petitioner was also canvassed about this pasticular sentence

at his Change of Plea hearing. Petitioner's co-defendant receiveqd a lesser sentence because
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she pléd to a lesser degree of murder than Pefitioner did. Although the sentences are different,
this Court sees nothing unfawful about Pefitioner's sentence.

Therefore, as Petitioner has not met his burden as to any of the grounds he has cited
in his Petifion, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Petitioner’s Petition for Wit of Habeas Corpus

is DENIED. -
DATED this 12 day of March, 2021.

RISTO L
DISTRIGT JUDGE. - DEPT. 1
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